COUNCIL OF THE COUNTY OF MAUI

POLICY COMMITTEE
August 21, 2012

Committee
Report No.

Honorable Chair and Members
of the County Council
County of Maui
Wailuku, Maui, Hawaii
Chair and Members:
Your Policy Committee, having met on August 1, 2012, makes reference to
County Communication 11-30, from Council Chair Danny A. Mateo, regarding litigation
matters.
By correspondence dated July 17, 2012, the Department of the Corporation
Counsel requested consideration of a proposed bill entitled "A BILL FOR AN
ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE COUNTY OF MAUI TO
ENTER INTO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT WITH THE UNITED
STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGARDING THE
CENTRAL MAUI LANDFILL". The proposed bill attaches the intergovernmental
agreement in the form of a proposed Consent Decree as Exhibit "B".
The purpose of the proposed bill is to authorize the Mayor to enter into the
proposed Consent Decree with the United States Environmental Protection Agency
("EPA"). The proposed Consent Decree sets forth the terms by which a Notice of
Violation issued by the EPA on June 5, 2007, would be settled. A copy of the EPA's
document in Docket R9-07-05, entitled "Finding and Notice of Violation", is attached as
Exhibit "A" to the proposed bill.
Your Committee notes that the EPA alleges that the County violated the Clean
Air Act by failing to timely construct and operate a gas collection and control system,
failing to operate interior landfill gas wellheads in the system with specified gas
temperatures, and causing certain emissions to occur from the Central Maui Landfill.
The landfill is located off Pulehu Road in Puunene, Maui, Hawaii.
Under the proposed Consent Decree, the County would pay a fine of $380,000,
and agree to monitoring and reporting requirements relating to the Central Maui Landfill.
The County would also implement a Supplemental Environmental Project consisting of
the installation of wind turbines at the Central Maui Landfill. As set forth in the
proposed bill, the wind turbines are anticipated to generate approximately 56,000
kilowatt hours of electricity per year.
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The Deputy Director of Environmental Management noted that the gas collection
and control system, which the EPA alleged the County should have installed at the
Central Maui Landfill, was installed in 2009. Following negotiations with the
Department of the Corporation Counsel, the EPA agreed to substantially reduce the
proposed fine to resolve the Notice of Violation. The Deputy Director further noted that
the funds to pay the fine were encumbered in June 2012.
A Deputy Corporation Counsel provided an overview of the factors contributing
to the difficulties experienced at the Central Maui Landfill, the EPA's allegations, and the
Department's recommended resolution of those allegations.
Your Committee voted 7-0 to recommend passage of the proposed bill on first
reading. Committee Chair Hokama, Vice-Chair Carroll, and members Baisa, Cochran,
Couch, Mateo, and White voted "aye". Committee members Pontanilla and Victorino
were excused.
Your Committee is in receipt of a revised proposed bill, approved as to form and
legality by the Department of the Corporation Counsel. The proposed Consent Decree
attached to the revised proposed bill has been signed and recommended for approval by
the Director of Environmental Management and approved as to form and legality by the
Department of the Corporation Counsel.
Your Policy Committee RECOMMENDS that Bill (2012), attached
hereto, entitled "A BILL FOR AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF
THE COUNTY OF MAUI TO ENTER INTO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL
AGREEMENT WITH THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
AGENCY REGARDING THE CENTRAL MAUI LANDFILL", be PASSED ON FIRST
READING and be ORDERED TO PRINT.
This report is submitted in accordance with Rule 8 of the Rules of the Council.

. RIKI H
pol:cr:12001(26)aa:cmn

MA, Chair

ORDINANCE NO.
BILL NO.

(2012)

A BILL FOR AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OF THE
COUNTY OF MAUI TO ENTER INTO AN INTERGOVERNMENTAL
AGREEMENT WITH THE UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
REGARDING THE CENTRAL MAUI LANDFILL
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PEOPLE OF THE COUNTY OF MAUI:

SECTION 1. Purpose. The United States Environmental

Protection Agency ("EPA") has alleged violations of the Clean Air
Act, including an alleged failure to timely design, construct, and
operate a gas collection and control system ("GCCS") and failing to
operate interior landfill gas wellheads in the GCCS with gas
temperatures below 131 degrees Fahrenheit. The EPA alleges that the
failure to operate the GCCS resulted in emissions of pollutants
over a two-year period. On June 5, 2007, the EPA issued a Finding
and Notice of Violation regarding the Landfill, attached hereto as
Exhibit "A".
The County of Maui ("County") disputes the EPA's allegations,
including the facts, legal conclusions, and jurisdictional basis
for the same. To resolve their dispute, the County and EPA have
agreed to enter into a negotiated consent decree instead of having
the disputed issues resolved in an enforcement action. To avoid
incurring the expense and uncertainty of a federal court's

determination of the parties' respective rights and liabilities,
the Department of Environmental Management has reviewed the
proposed Consent Decree, attached hereto as Exhibit "B" ("Consent
Decree"), and agrees with the terms and conditions contained
therein.
Section 2.20.020, Maui County Code, provides that, unless
authorized by ordinance, the Mayor shall not enter into any
intergovernmental agreement or any amendment thereto which places a
financial obligation upon the County or any department or agency
thereof.
SECTION 2. Council Authorization. The Council approves
attempts to reach resolution of the disputed issues at the Central
Maui Landfill by way of the Consent Decree, in substantial
conformance with Exhibit "B", which includes payment of a $380,000
fine; monitoring and reporting requirements; and the requirement to
implement a "Supplemental Environmental Project," which will be the
installation of wind turbines that are anticipated to produce
approximately 56,000 kilowatt hours of electricity per year,
supplying a significant percentage of the electrical demands of the
Central Maui Landfill operations.
The Agreement requires the County to immediately pay the
$380,000 fine and to conduct monitoring and reporting for three (3)

2

years, in addition to completing the windmill project within three
(3) years. In the event the County fails to perform obligations
required under the Consent Decree, the County may accrue
significant stipulated penalties pursuant to Section IX of the
Consent Decree.
Pursuant to Section 2.20.020, Maui County Code, the Council of
the County of Maui hereby authorizes the Mayor to enter into the
Consent Decree, all other necessary documents relating to the
Agreement, and any amendments thereto.
SECTION 3. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect
upon its approval.

APPROVED AS TO FORM
AND LEGALITY:

RICHELLE M. THOMSON
Deputy Corporation Counsel
County of Maui
S:\ALL\RMT\Ordinances\CML EPA CD 7-17.12.doc
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UNITED STATES ENV/RONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
REGION 9

In the Matter of:
County of Maui
200 South High Street
Wailuku, Hawaii 96793

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Docket No. R9-07-05

Finding and
Notice of Violation

This Finding and Notice of Violation ("NOV") is issued
pursuant to the authority of Section 113 of the Clean Air Act, 42
U.S.C. §§ 7401-7671q ("CAA" or "Act") to the County of Maui
("County") for violations of the Act at Central Maui Municipal
Solid Waste Landfill ("Landfill") located off Pulehu Road,
Puunene, Maui, Hawaii. The authority of the Administrator of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") to issue an
NOV pursuant to Section 113(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a),
has been delegated to the Regional Administrator, EPA Region 9,
and redelegated to the Director, Air Division, EPA Region 9.
STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY

1.

Pursuant to Section 111(b)(1)(A) of the Act, 42 U.S.C.
§ 7411(b)(1)(A), and at 40 C.F.R. § 60.16, EPA has
identified municipal solid waste ("MSW) landfills as one
category of stationary sources that cause, or contribute
significantly to, air pollution that may reasonably be
anticipated to endanger public health or welfare. Pursuant
to Section 111(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(b), EPA
promulgated standards for MSW landfills at 40 C.F.R. Part
60, Subpart WWW, §§ 60.750 - 60.759 ("NSPS Subpart WWW"), at
40 C.F.R. Part 60, which became effective March 12, 1996.

See 61 Fed. Reg. 9905 (Mar. 12, 1996).

EXHIBIT "A"

In the Matter of County of Maui, Docket No, R9-07-05
2.

NSPS Subpart WWW applies to each municipal solid waste
landfill ("MSW landfill" or "landfill") that commenced
construction, reconstruction or modification on or after May
30, 1991.

3.

A "modification" of an MSW landfill is defined as an
increase in the permitted volume design capacity of the
landfill by either horizontal or vertical expansion based on
its permitted design capacity as of May 30, 1991.
Modification does not occur until the owner or operator
commences construction on the horizontal or vertical
expansion. 40 C.F.R. 60.751; see 63 Fed. Reg. 32750 (June
16, 1998) and 64 Fed. Reg. 9262 (Feb. 24, 1999).

4.

When an MSW landfill subject to NSPS Subpart WWW has a
design capacity > 2.5 million megagrams ("Mg") and 2.5
million cubic meters ("m 3 "), each owner or operator of the
subject landfill must either calculate the landfill's
nonmethane organic compounds ("NMOC") emission rate using
the procedures specified in 40 C.F.R. § 60.754, or must
submit a gas control and collection system ("GCCS") design
plan ("design plan"), prepared by a professional engineer,
to EPA within one year, and install a GCCS within 30 months
of emissions > 50 Mg NMOC/yr. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.752(b)
and 60.757(c).

5.

"Design capacity" is defined as the maximum amount of solid
waste a landfill can accept, as indicated in terms of volume
or mass in the most recent permit issued by the State,
-2-
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local, or Tribal agency responsible for regulating the
landfill, plus any in-place waste not accounted for in the
most recent permit. 40 C.F.R. 60.751; see 63 Fed, Reg, 32750
(June 16, 1998).
6.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(C), the design plan
must either conform with the specifications for active
collection systems in 40 C.F.R. § 60.759 or include a
demonstration to the Administrator's satisfaction of the
sufficiency of the alternative provisions to

7.

60.759.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.759(a)(1), the design plan
conforming with the specifications for active collection
systems in 40 C.F.R. § 60.759 must address the following
issues: depths of refuse, flow characteristics, cover
properties, gas system expandability, ieachate and
condensate management, accessibility, compatibility with
filling operations, integration with closure end use, air
intrusion control, corrosion resistance, fill settlement,
and resistance to the refuse decomposition heat.

8.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.759(b)(2), the design plan
conforming with the specifications for active collection
systems in 40 C.F.R. § 60.759 must show that holes and
trenches constructed for pipe wells and horizontal
collectors shall be of sufficient cross-sectional area so as
to allow for their proper construction and completion
including the centering of pipes and placement of gravel
backfill. The design plan also must show that collection
-3-
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devices are not designed so as not to allow indirect shortcircuiting of the air into the cover or refuse into the
collection system or gas into the air. Moreover, the design
plan must show that any gravel used around pipe perforations
shall be of sufficient dimension so as to not penetrate or
block perforations.
9.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.759(a)(1), the design plan
conforming with the specifications for active collection
systems in 40 C.F.R. § 60.759 must show that gas collection
devices will be installed in sufficient density to address
landfill gas migration issues and augmentation of the
collection system through use of active or passive systems
at the landfill's perimeter or exterior.

10.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(i)(A), the design plan
must describe how the GCCS will meet the design requirements
of 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(ii), including, but not limited
to, the requirement of 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(2) to
collect gas from each area, cell, or group of cells in the
landfill in which the initial solid waste has been placed
for a period of five years or more if active or two years or
more if closed or at final grade.

11. On January 30, 2006, EPA delegated authority to implement
and enforce NSPS Subpart WWW to the State of Hawaii,
Department of Health.
FINDING OP VIOLATION
11. The County is the owner and operator of the Landfill.
-4-
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12.

-

In 1994, the Landfill became subject to NSPS Subpart WW1 by
commencing vertical expansion (modification) of Phases I and
TI of the Landfill.

13.

Based on Tier 1 default values set forth at 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.754, the Landfill reached 50 Mg/yr of NMOC emissions in
1989.

14.

In January 2004, the Landfill reached a design capacity >
2.5 million Mg and 2.5 million re.

15.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2), the County was
required to submit a GCCS design plan for the Landfill to
EPA by January 2005.

16. On February 22, 2007, the County submitted to EPA the
"Landfill Gas Master Plan, Central Maui Landfill," dated
February 2007 ("Master Plan").
17. The Master Plan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, are not prepared by a professional engineer.
18. The Master Plan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, do not address the following issues at the
Landfill: depths of-refuse, flow characteristics, cover
properties, gas system expandability, accessibility,
compatibility with filling operations, integration with
closure end use, air intrusion control, corrosion
resistance, fill settlement, and resistance to the refuse
decomposition heat.
19. The Master Plan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, do not show that holes and trenches
-5-
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constructed for pipe wells and horizontal collectors at the
Landfill willbe of sufficient cross-sectional area so as to
allow for their proper construction and completion including
the centering of pipes and placement of gravel backfill.
The Master Elan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, do not show that collection devices are not
designed so as not to allow indirect short-circuiting of the
air into the cover or refuse into the collection system or
gas into the air. The design plan, and any other document
submitted by the County to EPA, do not show that any gravel
used around pipe perforations will be of sufficient
dimension so as to not penetrate or block perforations.
20.

The Master Plan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, failed to show that gas collection devices
will be installed in sufficient density to address Landfill
gas migration issues and augmentation of the collection
system through use of active or passive systems at the
Landfill's perimeter or exterior.

21.

The Master Plan, and any other document submitted by the
County to EPA, failed to describe how the GCCS will meet the
design requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(ii),
including, but not limited to, the requirement of 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.752(b)(2)(ii)(A)(2) to collect gas from each area,
cell, or group of cells in the Landfill in which the initial
solid waste has been placed for a period of five years or
more if active or two years or more if closed or at final
-6-
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grade.
22.

To date, the County has failed to submit to EPA a design
plan that is approved by a professional engineer and, as set
forth in paragraphs 18 through 21 of this NOV, conforms with
the specifications for active collection systems in 40
C.F.R. § 60.759.

23.

To date, the County has failed to submit to EPA a
demonstration to the Administrator's satisfaction of the
sufficiency of the alternative provisions to § 60.759.

24

The County's failure to submit to EPA by January 2005 a
design plan that is prepared by a professional engineer and,
as set forth in paragraphs 18 through 21 of this NOV.
conforms with the specifications for active collection
systems in 40 C.F.R. § 60.759, or includes a demonstration
to the Administrator's satisfaction of the sufficiency of
the alternative provisions to § 60.759, constitutes a
violation of Section 111 of the CAA and 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.752(b)(2)(i).

25.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(ii), the County was
required to install a GCCS at the Landfill by July 2006.

26.

To date, the County has failed to install a GCCS at the
Landfill.

27

The County's failure to install a GCCS at the Landfill by
July 2006 constitutes a violation of Section 111 of the CAA
and 40 C.F.R. § 60.752(b)(2)(ii).
ENFORCEMENT

-7.-
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28. Section 113(a)(3) of the Act provides that whenever EPA
finds that any person has violated, or is in violation of,
any requirement or prohibition of, inter cilia, subchapter I
or V of the Act, including, but not limited to, any
requirement or prohibition of any rule promulgated under
Sections 111 or 502 of the Act, EPA may,
issue an administrative penalty order pursuant to
Section 113(d) for civil administrative penalties of up
to $ 32,500 per day of violation, or
-

issue an order requiring such person to comply with
such requirement or prohibition, or

-

bring a civil action pursuant to Section 113(b) for
injunctive relief and/or civil penalties of not more
than $ 32,500 per day for each violation.

42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(3), as amended by Pub. L. 104-134.
Furthermore, for any person who knowingly violates a requirement
or prohibition of Sections 111 or 502 of the Act, Section 113(c)
provides for criminal penalties or imprisonment, or both. In
addition, under Section 306(a), the regulations promulgated
thereunder (40 C.F.R. Part 32), and Executive Order 11738,
facilities to be used in federal contracts, grants, and loans
must be in full compliance with the Act and all regulations
promulgated pursuant to it. Violation of the Act may result in
the subject facility being declared ineligible for participation
in any federal contract, grant, or loan.
PENALTY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA
-8-
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Section 113(e)(1) of the Act states that the Administrator
or a court, as appropriate, shall, in determining the amount of
any penalty to be assessed, take into consideration (in addition
to such other factors as justice may require) the size of the
business, the economic impact of the penalty on the business, the
violator's full compliance history and good faith efforts to
comply, the duration of the violation as established by any
credible evidence (including evidence other than the applicable
test method), payment by the violator of penalties previously
assessed for the same violation, the economic benefit of
noncompliance, and the seriousness of the violation. Section
113(e)(2) of the Act allows the Administrator or a court to
assess a penalty for each day of violation. For purposes of
determining the number of days of violation, where EPA makes a
prima facie showing that the conduct or events giving rise to
this violation are likely to have continued or recurred past the
date of this NOV, the days of violation shall be presumed to
include the date of this NOV and each and every day thereafter
until the defendant or respondent establishes that continuous
compliance has been achieved, except to the extent that the
defendant or respondent can prove by the preponderance of the
evidence that there were intervening days during which no
violation occurred or that the violation was not continuing in
nature.
OPPORTUNITY FOR CONFERENCE

The County may, upon request, confer with EPA. The
-9-
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conference will enable the County to present evidence bearing on
the finding of violation, the nature of the violation, and any
efforts it may have taken or proposes to take to achieve
compliance. The County may be represented by counsel. A request
for a conference must be made within ten (10) working days of
receipt of this NOV. The request for a conference or other
inquiries concerning the NOV should be made in writing to:
Brian P. Riedel (ORC-2)
Office of Regional Counsel
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
75 Hawthorne Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
(415) 972-3924 telephone
(415) 947-3570 facsimile

1,-9
Date

1

Deb rah Jordán
Director, Air Division

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF HAWAII
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff;
V.
COUNTY OF MAUI, HAWAII
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
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WHEREAS, Plaintiff United States of America, on behalf of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), has filed a complaint in
this action concurrently with this Consent Decree, alleging that Defendant County
of Maui ("Defendant"), violated Sections 111, 112 and 502 of the Clean Air Act,
42 U.S.C. §§ 7411, 7412 and 7661a ("Act").
WHEREAS, Defendant owns and operates the Central Maui
Municipal Solid Waste Landfill ("Landfill") located on the island of Maui in
Hawaii.
WHEREAS, on June 5, 2007, EPA issued a Finding and Notice of
Violation, Docket No. R9-07-05, regarding the Landfill.
WHEREAS, the Complaint alleges that Defendant violated the
Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources ("NSPS") and National
Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants ("NESHAP") regulations
promulgated pursuant to Sections 111 and 112 of the Act for existing and new
municipal solid waste landfills. The Complaint further alleges that Defendant
violated the NSPS regulations by failing to timely submit a design plan for a gas
collection and control system ("GCCS") to EPA, failing to timely install and
operate a GCCS, and failing to operate interior wellheads in the GCCS with a gas
temperature below the 131 degrees Fahrenheit limit. The Complaint further

alleges that, as a result of failing to timely construct and operate a GCCS,
Defendant emitted approximately 41.6 tons of uncontrolled non-methane organic
compounds ("NMOCs") over the course of approximately two years. NMOCs are
comprised of Volatile Organic Compounds ("VOCs") and Hazardous Air
Pollutants ("HAPs"). The Complaint further alleges that Defendant violated the
NESHAP regulations by failing to timely comply with the NSPS regulations as
described in this Paragraph and by failing to timely develop a startup, shutdown
and malfunction plan. The Complaint further alleges that Defendant violated the
Title V regulations by failing to timely submit a complete application for a Title V
covered source permit.
WHEREAS, Defendant does not admit any liability to the United
States arising out of the transactions or occurrences alleged in the Complaint.
WHEREAS, the United States and Defendant (referred to collectively
as the "Parties") seek to avoid litigation and work cooperatively on issues related
to conditions at the Landfill. The injunctive relief set forth in this Decree is
intended to, inter alia, ensure operation of the Landfill in accordance with
applicable law.
WHEREAS, the Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this
Consent Decree finds, that this Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties
-2-

in good faith and will avoid litigation among the Parties and that this Consent
Decree is fair, reasonable, and in the public interest.
NOW, THEREFORE, before the taking of any testimony, without the
adjudication or admission of any issue of fact or law, and with the consent of the
Parties, IT IS HEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as follows:
I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action,

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, and Section 113(b) of the Act, 42
U.S.C. § 7413(b), and over the Parties. Venue lies in this District pursuant to
Section 113(b) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c),
and 1395(a), because the violations alleged in the Complaint are alleged to have
occurred in, and Defendant's principal place of business is located in, this judicial
district. For purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this Decree, the
Parties consent to the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree and any such action and
over the Parties (and each of them), and consent to venue in this judicial district.
2.

For purposes of this Consent Decree only, Defendant agrees that the

Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted pursuant to Section
113(b) of the of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b).
II. APPLICABILITY
-3-

3.

The obligations of this Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon

the United States and upon Defendant and any successors, assigns, or other entities
or persons otherwise bound by law.
4.

No transfer of ownership or operation of the Facility, whether in

compliance with the procedures of this Paragraph or otherwise, shall relieve
Defendant of its obligation to ensure that the terms of the Decree are implemented.
At least 30 Days prior to such transfer, Defendant shall provide a copy of this
Consent Decree to the proposed transferee and shall simultaneously provide
written notice of the prospective transfer, together with a copy of the proposed
written agreement, to EPA Region 9, the United States Attorney for the District of
Hawaii, and the United States Department of Justice, in accordance with Section
XV of this Decree (Notices). Any attempt to transfer ownership or operation of the
Facility without complying with this Paragraph constitutes a violation of this
Decree.
5.

Defendant shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to all managers

whose duties might reasonably include the management of implementation of the
work required under this Consent Decree. Defendant shall make copies of the
Consent Decree available to any contractor retained to perform work required
under this Consent Decree. Defendant shall condition any such contract upon
-4-

performance of the work in conformity with the terms of this Consent Decree.
6.

In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Defendant shall not raise

as a defense the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or
contractors to take any actions necessary to comply with the provisions of this
Consent Decree.
III. OBJECTIVES
7.

All plans, measures, reports, construction, maintenance, operational

requirements, and other obligations in this Consent Decree or resulting from the
activities required by this Consent Decree shall have the objective, inter alia, of
causing Defendant to achieve and maintain full compliance with the Clean Air Act,
its implementing regulations, and the terms and conditions of Defendant's Current
Permit.
IV. DEFINITIONS
8.

Terms used in this Consent decree that are defined in the Act or in

regulations promulgated pursuant to the Act shall have the meanings assigned to
them in the Act or such regulations, unless otherwise provided in this Decree.
Whenever the terms set forth below are used in this Consent Decree, the following
definitions shall apply:
a.

"CO Analysis" shall mean the analysis of carbon monoxide
-5-

("CO") gas captured in either a summa canister or Cali-5-Bond Bag®, which is
performed by a laboratory that uses ASTM-1945, ASTM-1946, or an equivalent
method with a detection limit of at least 100 ppm of CO in high concentrations of
methane;
b.

"Complaint" shall mean the complaint filed by the United

States in this action;
c.

"Consent Decree" or "Decree" shall mean this Decree and all

appendices attached hereto;
d.

"Current Permit" shall mean Covered Source Permit No. 0652-

01-C, Central Maui Municipal Solid Waste Landfill;
e.

"Date of Lodging" shall be the date upon which this Consent

Decree is filed with the Court as part of a Notice of Lodging, as recorded on the
Court's docket, and shall precede both the public comment period required by this
Decree and a Motion to Enter the Decree.
f.

"Day" shall mean a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a

business day. In computing any period of time under this Consent Decree, where
the last day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period shall
run until the close of business of the next business day;
g.

"Defendant" shall mean the County of Maui named in the
-6-

Complaint;
h.

"EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection

Agency and any of its successor departments or agencies;
i.

"End of the First Full Quarter" shall mean the end of the first

full calendar-year quarter (i.e., by March 31, June 30, October 1, and December
31) after the Date of Lodging of this Consent Decree.
J.

"Effective Date" shall have the definition provided in Section

k.

"Eligible SEP Costs" shall include, but not be limited to, the

XVI.

feasibility study for the proposed Wind Turbines project, interconnect study(ies)
required by Maui Electric Company ("MECO"), design of the supplemental
environmental project ("SEP")(including design of necessary improvements to
MECO's system), purchase of and cost to install the Wind Turbines and related
equipment, SEP and MECO infrastructure, environmental and/or endangered
species studies and mitigation measures (if any), and other related costs.
1.

"Facility" shall mean the Central Maui Municipal Solid Waste

Landfill, located on the island of Maui, in Hawaii.
m.

"Interim Limits" are those wellhead gas temperature limits

established in Appendix A to this Consent Decree, or pursuant to Paragraph 11 of
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this Consent Decree.
n.

"Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by an

arabic numeral;
o.

"Parties" shall mean the United States and the Defendant;

p.

"SEP Construction Completion" shall mean the Defendant has

completed installation of and commenced electricity production with the Wind
Turbine.
q.

"SEP Completion" shall mean the Defendant has operated the

Wind Turbines for at least two years following SEP Construction Completion, and
achieved the SEP Power Output Requirement.
r.

"SEP Power Output Requirement" shall mean the production of

at least 100,000 kilowatt hours ("kWhrs") of electricity with the Wind Turbines.
s.

"Section" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by a

roman numeral;
t.

"State" shall mean the State of Hawaii.

u.

"United States" shall mean the United States of America, acting

on behalf of EPA.
v.

"VOC Analysis" shall mean the analysis of VOCs pursuant to

EPA Method TO-15. The list of analytes shall include those set forth in Appendix
-8-

B to this Consent Decree.
V. CIVIL PENALTY
9.

Within 30 Days after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree,

Defendant shall pay the sum of $380,000 as a civil penalty. Defendant shall pay
the civil penalty due by FedWire Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") to the U.S.
Department of Justice in accordance with written instructions to be provided to
Defendant, following entry of the Consent Decree, by the Financial Litigation
Unit of the U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Hawaii, PJKK Federal
Building, 300 Ala Moana Blvd., #6-100 Honolulu, HI 96850, (808) 541-2850. At
the time of payment, Defendant shall send a copy of the EFT authorization form
and the EFT transaction record, together with a transmittal letter, which shall state
that the payment is for the civil penalty owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in
United States v. County of Maui, and shall reference the civil action number and
DOJ case number 90-5-2-1-09360, to the United States in accordance with Section
XV of this Decree (Notices); by email to acctsreceivable.CINWD@epa.LTov; and
by mail to:
EPA Cincinnati Finance Office
26 Martin Luther King Drive
Cincinnati, Ohio 45268
Defendant shall not deduct any penalties paid under this Decree pursuant to this
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Section or Section IX (Stipulated Penalties) in calculating its federal income tax
(if any).
VI. COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS
10. Enhanced Gas Monitoring. Defendant shall conduct the following
monitoring at each gas extraction well at the Facility and any wells installed at the
Facility after the Effective Date, for a period of at least three years. Defendant
shall report monitoring results to EPA in accordance with Paragraph 23.b. of this
Consent Decree.
Defendant shall conduct the following monitoring at any gas

a.

extraction well with a measured temperature at or over 160° F based on the most
recent maximum temperature measured in that well:
On or before the End of the First Full Quarter, and on an

i.

annual basis thereafter, Defendant shall measure the temperature in each well
every 10 vertical feet.
On or before the End of the First Full Quarter, Defendant
shall perform a VOC Analysis.
b.

On or before the End of the First Full Quarter, Defendant shall

perform a VOC Analysis on EW-A-40.
c.

On or before the End of the First Full Quarter, and on an annual
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basis thereafter, Defendant shall perform a CO Analysis at each wellhead.
11. Interim Wellhead Gas Temperature Limits. For a period of at least
three years, or until EPA grants a request for waiver pursuant to subparagraph d.
below, Defendant shall comply with the following interim wellhead gas
temperature limits:
a.

All wells currently installed at the Facility are subject to the

Interim Limits set forth in Appendix A.
b.

All wells installed after the Effective Date of this Consent

Decree, whether intended to replace existing wells or not, shall be subject to an
Interim Limit of 150° F, unless EPA approves another Interim Limit under
subparagraph d. below.
c.

If the wellhead gas temperature in a particular well exceeds an

applicable Interim Limit, Defendant shall initiate corrective action within 5 Days.
If correction of the exceedance cannot be achieved within 120 Days of the initial
exceedance, the Defendant shall:

i.

Submit a request to EPA for an alternative timeline for

correcting the exceedance;
Request an alternative interim gas temperature limit
pursuant to subparagraph d. below; or

iii.

Undertake such other corrective action as mutually

agreed to by the Defendant and EPA.
iv.

An exceedance shall not be considered a violation until

the later of 120 days from the date the Defendant became aware of the elevated
wellhead temperature or until the EPA denies Defendant's request to set an
alternative interim gas temperature limit under subparagraph d. below, if
Defendant makes such a request.
d.

During the term of this Consent Decree, Defendant may request

an alternative interim gas temperature limit for any wellhead by submitting its
request in writing to EPA. Any such request shall contain all available sampling
and other evidence relevant to EPA's consideration of the request. At the
Defendant's request, EPA will meet with the Defendant to provide it an
opportunity to present the reasons for its request. After considering Defendant's
request, EPA will either grant the request or deny it, in writing.
e.

If EPA denies a request for an alternative interim wellhead gas

temperature limit, or for additional time to correct an exceedance, and the Parties
are unable mutually to agree upon other corrective action, then Defendant shall
either: (1) comply with the Interim Limits set forth in Appendix A of this Consent
Decree, or (2) invoke the Dispute Resolution procedures of Section XI of this
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Consent Decree.
f.

All Interim Limits established pursuant to this Consent Decree

shall expire three years after the Effective Date, unless EPA approves an
extension of time in writing. In the event that EPA grants Defendant's request for
an alternative interim wellhead gas temperature limit for an existing well, the
alternative limit approved by EPA shall immediately supersede the Interim Limit
set forth in Appendix A or Paragraph 11 for that well.
g.

Defendant shall monitor compliance with Interim Limits on at

least a monthly basis.
12.

Implementation of Fire Response Procedures. Defendant has

submitted, and EPA has reviewed and approved, a document entitled "Fire
Response Procedures, Central Maui Landfill," dated February 21, 2012 (attached
as Appendix C, hereinafter "Fire Response Procedures"). Defendant shall take the
actions required by the Fire Response Procedures.
13.

Permits. Where any compliance obligation under this Section requires

Defendant to obtain a federal, state, or local permit or approval, Defendant shall
submit timely and complete applications and take all other actions necessary to
obtain all such permits or approvals. Defendant may seek relief under the
provisions of Section X of this Consent Decree (Force Majeure) for any delay in
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the performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a
delay in obtaining, any permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation, if
Defendant has submitted timely and complete applications and has taken all other
actions necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals.
VII.
14.

SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT

Defendant shall implement the SEP described in this Section of the

Consent Decree. Defendant shall install, or cause to be installed, at least eight
wind turbines ("Wind Turbines") on the Landfill property. Each turbine shall
have a power rating of at least 2.4 kilowatts and collectively shall be capable of
producing at least 55,380 kilowatt hours per year ("kWh/yr"). Defendant may use
consultants and/or contractors in planning and implementing the SEP. Defendant
shall achieve SEP Construction Completion within three years of the Effective
Date of this Consent Decree. Defendant shall achieve SEP Completion within
three years of SEP Construction Completion.
15.

With regard to the SEP, Defendant certifies the truth and accuracy of

each of the following:
a.

that all cost information provided to EPA in connection with

EPA's approval of the SEP is complete and accurate and that Defendant in good
faith estimates that the cost to implement the SEP is at least $250,000;
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b.

that, as of the date of executing this Decree, Defendant is not

required to perform or develop the SEP by any federal, state, or local law or
regulation and is not required to perform or develop the SEP by agreement, grant,
or as injunctive relief awarded in any other action in any forum;
c.

that the SEP is not a project that Defendant was planning or

intending to construct, perform, or implement other than in settlement of the
claims resolved in this Decree;
d.

that Defendant has not received and will not receive credit for

the SEP in any other enforcement action;
e.

that Defendant will not receive any reimbursement for any

portion of the SEP from any other person;
f.

that it is not a party to any open federal financial assistance

transaction that is funding or could be used to fund the same activity as the SEP.
Defendant further certifies that, to the best of its knowledge and belief after
reasonable inquiry, there is no such open federal financial transaction that is
funding or could be used to fund the same activity as the SEP, nor has the same
activity been described in an unsuccessful federal financial assistance transaction
proposal submitted to EPA within two years of the Effective Date (unless the
project was barred from funding as statutorily ineligible). For the purposes of this
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certification, the term "open federal financial assistance transaction" refers to a
grant, cooperative agreement, loan, federally-guaranteed loan guarantee or other
mechanism for providing federal financial assistance whose performance period
has not yet expired; and
g.

that Defendant has not and will not use any air emission

reductions generated by this SEP in any emissions trading, permitting, netting or
offset programs.
16. As required in Section VIII of this Consent Decree, Defendant shall
report on the progress of SEP implementation, and provide additional information
regarding the SEP in quarterly reports. Within 30 days of SEP Completion,
Defendant shall submit a SEP Completion Report to the United States in
accordance with Section XV of this Consent Decree (Notices). The SEP
Completion Report shall contain the following information:
a.

a detailed description of the SEP as implemented;

b.

a description of the kWhrs that had been produced with the

Wind Turbines and utilized by Defendant to date, and its estimated value;
c.

a projection of the kWh/yr produced with the Wind Turbines

and utilized by Defendant for 15 years into the future, and its value;
d.

a description of any problems encountered in completing the
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SEP and the solutions thereto;
e.

an itemized list of all Eligible SEP Costs expended;

f.

certification that the SEP has been fully implemented pursuant

to the provisions of this Decree; and
g.

a description of the environmental and public health benefits

resulting from implementation of the SEP (with a quantification of the benefits and
pollutant reductions, if feasible).
17.

EPA may, in its sole discretion, require information in addition to that

described in the preceding Paragraph, in order to evaluate Defendant's SEP
Completion Report.
18.

After receiving the SEP Completion Report, the United States shall

notify Defendant in writing whether or not Defendant has satisfactorily completed
the SEP. If the United States notifies Defendant that it has not satisfactorily
completed the SEP, Defendant has an additional 60 Days from the receipt of such
notice to address the deficiencies identified in said written notice (or such other
time period as the United States and Defendant agree upon) and to provide notice
to the United States that the deficiencies have been addressed.
19. If Defendant has not completed the SEP in accordance with this
Consent Decree, stipulated penalties may be assessed under Section IX of this
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Consent Decree.
20.

Disputes concerning the satisfactory performance of the SEP and the

amount of eligible SEP costs may be resolved under Section XI of this Decree
(Dispute Resolution). No other disputes arising under this Section shall be subject
to Dispute Resolution.
21.

Each submission required under this Section shall be signed by an

official with knowledge of the SEP and shall bear the certification language set
forth in Paragraph 30.
22.

Any public statement, oral or written, in print, film, or other media,

made by Defendant during the time period that this Consent Decree is in force
making reference to the SEP under this Decree shall include the following
language: "This project was undertaken in connection with the settlement of an
enforcement action, United States of America v. County of Maui, taken on behalf
of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under the Clean Air Act." This
language shall also appear on a sign conspicuously posted at the SEP site during
the time period that this Consent Decree is in force.
VIII. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
23.

Defendant shall submit the following reports and notifications:
a.

All notifications required by the Fire Response Procedures
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pursuant to Paragraph 12 of this Consent Decree.
b.

All results of enhanced gas monitoring pursuant to Paragraph

10 of this Consent Decree.
c.

All results of Interim Limits compliance monitoring pursuant to

Paragraph 11.g. of this Consent Decree.
d.

A SEP Completion Report pursuant to Paragraph 16 of this

Consent Decree.
24.

If a temperature profile reading in any well exceeds 175° F,

Defendant shall notify EPA and the Hawaii Department of Health, Clean Air
Branch ("HDOH-CAB"), verbally and via email within 24 hours of receipt of such
temperature reading. Defendant shall continue to provide such notice for each
reading at that well above 175° F at a frequency determined by EPA.
25.

If any wellhead temperature reading exceeds 160° F, Defendant shall

notify EPA and HDOH-CAB, verbally and via email within 24 hours of receipt of
such temperature reading. Defendant shall continue to provide such notice for
each reading at that well above 160° F at a frequency determined by EPA.
26. On or before 45 days following the End of the First Full Quarter and
continuing until termination of this Decree pursuant to Section XIX, Defendant
shall submit a quarterly report via email or CD for the preceding quarter that shall
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include the status of implementation of the measures required by this Consent
Decree, including but not limited to, enhanced gas monitoring pursuant to
Paragraph 10 of this Consent Decree; interim wellhead temperature limit
compliance monitoring pursuant to Paragraph 11.g. of this Consent Decree;
implementation of the SEP pursuant to Section VII of this Consent Decree;
completion of milestones; problems encountered or anticipated, their causes, and
implemented or proposed solutions; status of permit applications; operation and
maintenance; and reports to state agencies. Upon SEP Completion, Defendant is
no longer required to include a description of the progress of SEP implementation
in each quarterly report. EPA reserves the right to request additional or follow-up
information.
27. The quarterly report described in Paragraph 26 above shall also
include a description of any non-compliance with the requirements of this Consent
Decree and an explanation of the non-compliance's likely cause and of the
remedial steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such non-compliance.
If the cause of non-compliance cannot be explained at the time the report is due,
Defendant shall so state in the report. If the cause of the non-compliance is
subsequently determined, Defendant shall update and re-submit the report.
Nothing in this Paragraph or the following Paragraph relieves Defendant of its
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obligation to provide the notice required by Section X of this Consent Decree
(Force Majeure).
28.

Whenever any non-compliance of this Consent Decree or of any

applicable permits or any other event affecting Defendant's performance under this
Decree, or the performance of its Facility, may pose an immediate threat to the
public health or welfare or the environment, Defendant shall notify EPA orally or
by electronic or facsimile transmission as soon as possible, but no later than 24
hours after Defendant first knew of the violation or event. This procedure is in
addition to the requirements set forth in the preceding Paragraph.
29.

All reports shall be submitted to the persons designated in Section XV

of this Consent Decree (Notices).
30. Each report submitted by Defendant under this Section shall be signed
by an official of the submitting party and include the following certification:
I certify under penalty of law that this document and all
attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to
assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my
inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for
gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate,
and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the
possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing and
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willful submission of a materially false statement.
This certification requirement does not apply to emergency or similar notifications
where compliance would be impractical.
31.

The reporting requirements of this Consent Decree do not relieve

Defendant of any reporting obligations required by the Clean Air Act or
implementing regulations, or by any other federal, state, or local law, regulation,
permit, or other requirement.
32.

Any information provided pursuant to this Consent Decree may be

used by the United States in any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this
Consent Decree and as otherwise permitted by law.
IX. STIPULATED PENALTIES
33.

Defendant shall be liable for stipulated penalties to the United States

for violations of this Consent Decree, as specified below, unless excused under
Section X (Force Majeure). A violation includes failing to perform any obligation
required by any work plan or schedule approved under this Decree.
34.

Late Payment of Civil Penalty. If Defendant fails to pay the civil

penalty required to be paid under Section V of this Decree (Civil Penalty) when
due, Defendant shall pay a stipulated penalty of $1,500 per Day for each Day that
the payment is late.
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35.

Failure to Perform Enhanced Gas Monitoring. The following

stipulated penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for Defendant's failure to
comply with Paragraph 10:
Penalty Per Violation Per Day

36.

Period of Noncompliance

$500

1st through 14th Day

$1,500

15th through 30th Day

$3,000

31st Day and beyond

Interim Wellhead Gas Temperature Limits. The following stipulated

penalties shall accrue per violation per Day for Defendant's failure to comply with
Paragraph 11:
Penalty Per Violation Per Day

Period of Noncompliance

$2,000

1st through 14th Day

$3,500

15th through 30th Day

$5,000

31st Day and beyond

Violations of monthly sampling obligations shall be assessed as a violation for
each day of the month in which the violation occurred.
37. Failure to Take Action Required By Fire Response Procedures. If
Defendant fails to take action required by the Fire Response Procedures, Defendant
shall pay a stipulated penalty of $10,000 for each Day that Defendant fails to act.
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38. SEP Implementation.
a.

If Defendant fails to timely and satisfactorily achieve SEP

Construction Completion as set forth in Paragraph 14 above, Defendant shall pay
stipulated penalties, upon written demand from EPA, in the following amounts for
each day SEP Construction Completion remains incomplete, to a maximum
stipulated penalty of $300,000:
Penalty Per Violation Per Day

Period of Noncompliance

$500

1st through 7 th Day

$1,500

8th through 21st Day

$2,500

22nd through

$3,500

Greater than 30 Days

b.

30 th Day

If Defendant timely and satisfactorily achieves SEP

Construction Completion, and operates the Wind Turbines for at least two years,
but fails to achieve the SEP Power Output Requirement within three years of SEP
Construction Completion, Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties, upon written
demand from EPA, in the following amounts for the corresponding percentage
failure to achieve the SEP Power Output Requirement, with a maximum stipulated
penalty of $50,000:
Percentage Failure to Achieve
the SEP Power Output

Penalty
-24-

Requirement
$5,000

1.0- 10.0%

$10,000

10.1 - 20.0%

$15,000

20.1 - 30.0%

$20,000

30.1 - 40.0%

$25,000

40.1 - 50.0%

$30,000

50.1 - 60.0%

$35,000

60.1 - 70.0%

$40,000

70.1 -80.0%

$45,000

80.1 - 90.0%

$50,000

90.1 - 99.9%

c.

If Defendant timely and satisfactorily achieves SEP

Construction Completion, but fails to operate the Wind Turbines for at least two
out of three years following SEP Construction Completion, Defendant shall pay a
stipulated penalty in the amount of $50,000.
d.

If Defendant fails to timely and satisfactorily achieve SEP

Completion as set forth in Paragraph 14 above, the United States may elect to
terminate the SEP if it determines that Defendant is not making a good faith effort
to satisfactorily complete the SEP. In addition, if at any time the United States
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determines that Defendant has abandoned the SEP, the United States may
terminate the SEP. The United States shall provide written notice of SEP
termination to Defendant. If the United States terminates the SEP, Defendant shall
be liable for a lump sum stipulated penalty of $300,000, less any amount that
Defendant has paid under paragraphs a., b. and c. If Defendant pays a termination
penalty under this Paragraph, it shall not be liable for stipulated penalties under
subparagraphs a., b. and c. Any sums already paid under subparagraphs a., b. and
c. shall be credited against the lump sum stipulated penalty due under this
Paragraph. The maximum combined stipulated penalty under this Paragraph is
$300,000.
39.

Delays in Submission of Reports. The following stipulated penalties

shall accrue per violation per Day for each failure to timely submit a report subject
to a deadline under this Consent Decree:
Penalty Per Violation Per Day

Period of Noncompliance

$500

1st through 30th Day

$1,500

31st through 60th Day

$2,500

61st Day and beyond

40.

Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the

Day after performance is due or on the Day a violation occurs, whichever is
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applicable, and shall continue to accrue until performance is satisfactorily
completed or until the violation ceases. Stipulated penalties shall accrue
simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree.
41.

Defendant shall pay any stipulated penalty within 30 Days of

receiving the United States' written demand.
42.

The United States may in the unreviewable exercise of its discretion,

reduce or waive stipulated penalties otherwise due it under this Consent Decree.
43. Upon receipt of the United States' written demand for payment of a
stipulated penalty, the Defendant may dispute its liability for such stipulated
penalty pursuant to Section XI (Dispute Resolution). Pending resolution of such
dispute, stipulated penalties continue to accrue if the obligation at issue has not
been met and interest on any unpaid penalties accrue pursuant to the terms of
Paragraphs 40 and 46, provided however, that Defendant may argue to the Court
that stipulated penalties and interest should not run after the date on which the
Defendant advises the United States that it disputes liability and invokes Dispute
Resolution, and provided that the United States can argue to the contrary. Upon
completion of dispute resolution, any stipulated penalties that are ultimately
determined to be due, plus interest as applicable, shall be paid within 30 Days of
EPA's written decision, or, if applicable, any Court order.
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44.

If any Party appeals a District Court's decision, Defendant shall pay

all accrued penalties determined to be owing, together with interest, within 15
Days of receiving the final appellate court decision.
45.

Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties owing to the United States in

the manner set forth and with the confirmation notices required by Paragraph 9,
except that the transmittal letter shall state that the payment is for stipulated
penalties and shall state for which violation(s) the penalties are being paid.
46.

If Defendant fails to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of

this Consent Decree, Defendant shall be liable for interest on such penalties, as
provided for in 28 U.S.C. § 1961, accruing as of the date payment became due.
Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to limit the United States from
seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for Defendant's failure to pay any
stipulated penalties.
47.

Subject to the provisions of Section XIII of this Consent Decree

(Effect of Settlement/Reservation of Rights), the stipulated penalties provided for
in this Consent Decree shall be in addition to any other rights, remedies, or
sanctions available to the United States for Defendant's violation of this Consent
Decree or applicable law. Where a violation of this Consent Decree is also a
violation of Sections 111 and/or 112 of the Clean Air Act, or its implementing
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regulations, Defendant shall be allowed a credit, for any stipulated penalties paid,
against any statutory penalties imposed for such violation.
X. FORCE MAJEURE
48.

"Force majeure," for purposes of this Consent Decree, is defined as

any event arising from causes beyond the control of Defendant, of any entity
controlled by Defendant, or of Defendant's contractors, that delays or prevents the
performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree despite Defendant's best
efforts to fulfill the obligation. The requirement that Defendant exercise "best
efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate any
potential force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any such
event (a) as it is occurring and (b) after it has occurred to prevent or minimize any
resulting delay to the greatest extent possible. "Force Majeure" does not include
Defendant's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent
Decree.
49.

If any force majeure event occurs or has occurred that may delay the

performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree, Defendant shall provide
written notice to EPA within 14 Days of when Defendant first knew that the event
might cause a delay. The notice shall include an explanation and description of the
reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to
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be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any
measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; and
Defendant's rationale for attributing such delay to a force majeure event if it
intends to assert such a claim. Defendant shall include with any notice all
available documentation supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a
force majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude
Defendant from asserting any claim of force majeure for that event for the period
of time of such failure to comply, and for any additional delay caused by such
failure. Defendant shall be deemed to know of any circumstance of which
Defendant, any entity controlled by Defendant, or Defendant's contractors knew or
should have known.
50. If EPA agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a
force majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent
Decree affected by the force majeure event will be extended by EPA for such time
as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for
performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event shall not, of
itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. EPA will notify
Defendant in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the
obligations affected by the force majeure event.
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51.

If EPA does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or

will be caused by a force majeure event, EPA will notify Defendant in writing of
its decision.
52.

If Defendant elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set

forth in Section XI (Dispute Resolution), it shall do so no later than 15 Days after
receipt of EPA's notice. In any such proceeding, Defendant shall have the burden
of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated
delay has been or will be caused by a force majeure event, that the duration of the
delay or the extension sought was or will be warranted under the circumstances,
that best efforts were exercised to avoid and mitigate the effects of the delay, and
that Defendant complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 48 and 49, above. If
the Court agrees that the event was a force majeure event, the dates for
performance shall be adjusted to reflect the time the Court determines to be
appropriate pursuant to the Dispute Resolution process, and the modified dates
shall be the basis for determining compliance with this Consent Decree, including
for purposes of Section IX (Stipulated Penalties).
XI. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
53. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, the
dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to
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resolve disputes arising under or with respect to this Consent Decree. Defendant's
failure to seek resolution of a dispute under this Section shall preclude Defendant
from raising any such issue as a defense to an action by the United States to
enforce any obligation of Defendant arising under this Decree.
54.

Informal Dispute Resolution. Any dispute subject to Dispute

Resolution under this Consent Decree shall first be the subject of informal
negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when Defendant sends
the United States a written Notice of Dispute. Such Notice of Dispute shall state
clearly the matter in dispute. The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed
20 Days from the date the dispute arises, unless that period is modified by written
agreement. If the Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, then
the position advanced by the United States shall be considered binding unless,
within 30 Days after the conclusion of the informal negotiation period, Defendant
invokes formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.
55.

Formal Dispute Resolution. Defendant shall invoke formal dispute

resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph,
by serving on the United States a written Statement of Position regarding the
matter in dispute. The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited
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to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting Defendant's position and any
supporting documentation relied upon by Defendant.
56.

The United States shall serve its Statement of Position within 45 Days

of receipt of Defendant's Statement of Position. The United States' Statement of
Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or
opinion supporting that position and any supporting documentation relied upon by
the United States. The United States' Statement of Position shall be binding on
Defendant, unless Defendant files a motion for judicial review of the dispute in
accordance with the following Paragraph.
57.

Judicial Dispute Resolution. Defendant may seek judicial review of

the dispute by filing with the Court and serving on the United States, in accordance
with Section XV of this Consent Decree (Notices), a motion requesting judicial
resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within 60 Days of receipt of
the United States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The
motion shall contain a written statement of Defendant's position on the matter in
dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation,
and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute
must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent Decree.
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58.

The United States shall respond to Defendant's motion within the time

period allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Defendant may file a reply
memorandum, to the extent permitted by the Local Rules.
59.

Standard of Review
a.

Disputes Concerning Matters Accorded Record Review.

Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any dispute brought under
Paragraph 55 pertaining to the adequacy or appropriateness of plans, procedures to
implement plans, schedules or any other items requiring approval by EPA under
this Consent Decree; the adequacy of the performance of work undertaken
pursuant to this Consent Decree; and all other disputes that are accorded review on
the administrative record under applicable principles of administrative law,
Defendant shall have the burden of demonstrating, based on the administrative
record, that the position of the United States is arbitrary and capricious or
otherwise not in accordance with law.
b.

Other Disputes. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent

Decree, in any other dispute brought under Paragraph 55, Defendant shall bear the
burden of demonstrating that its position complies with this Consent Decree and
better furthers the Objectives of the Consent Decree.
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60.

The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section

shall not, by itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of
Defendant under this Consent Decree, unless and until final resolution of the
dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with respect to the disputed matter shall
continue to accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but payment shall be
stayed pending resolution of the dispute as provided in Paragraphs 43 and 44. If
Defendant does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be
assessed and paid as provided in Section IX (Stipulated Penalties).
XII. INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION
61.

The United States and its representatives, including attorneys,

contractors, and consultants, shall have the right of entry into any facility covered
by this Consent Decree, at all reasonable times, upon presentation of credentials,
to:
a.

monitor the progress of activities required under this Consent

b.

verify any data or information submitted to the United States in

Decree;

accordance with the terms of this Consent Decree;
c.

obtain samples and, upon request, splits of any samples taken

by Defendant or its representatives, contractors, or consultants;
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d.

obtain documentary evidence, including photographs and

similar data; and
e.
62.

assess Defendant's compliance with this Consent Decree.

Upon request, Defendant shall provide EPA or its authorized

representatives with splits of any samples taken by Defendant. Upon request,
EPA shall provide Defendant with splits of any samples taken by EPA.
63.

Until three years after the termination of this Consent Decree,

Defendant shall retain, and shall instruct its contractors and agents to preserve, all
non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information (including
documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its
contractors' or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its
contractors' or agents' possession or control, and that relate in any manner to
Defendant's performance of its obligations under this Consent Decree. This
information-retention requirement shall apply regardless of any contrary corporate
or institutional policies or procedures. At any time during this informationretention period, upon request by the United States, Defendant shall provide
copies of any non-privileged documents, records, or other information required to
be maintained under this Paragraph.
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64.

At the conclusion of the information-retention period provided in the

preceding Paragraph, Defendant shall notify the United States that Defendant may
destroy documents, records, or other information subject to the requirements of
the preceding Paragraph and, upon request by the United States, Defendant shall
deliver any such non-privileged documents, records, or other information to EPA.
Defendant may assert that certain documents, records, or other information is
privileged under the attorney-client privilege, deliberative process privilege,
attorney work-product doctrine, or any other privilege or doctrine recognized by
federal law. If Defendant asserts such a privilege, it shall provide the following:
(1) the title of the document, record, or information; (2) the date of the document,
record, or information; (3) the name and title of each author of the document,
record, or information; (4) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (5) a
description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and (6) the
privilege asserted by Defendant. However, no documents, records, or other
information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Consent
Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege.
65.

Defendant may also assert that information required to be provided

under this Section is protected as Confidential Business Information ("CBI")
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under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to any information that Defendant seeks to protect as
CBI, Defendant shall follow the procedures set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2.
66.

This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry

and inspection, or any right to obtain information, held by the United States
pursuant to applicable federal laws, regulations, or permits, nor does it limit or
affect any duty or obligation of Defendant to maintain documents, records, or
other information imposed by applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or
permits.
XIII. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS
67.

This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States for

the violations alleged in the Complaint filed in this action and the Notice of
Violation, Docket No. R9-07-05, issued June 5, 2007, through the Date of
Lodging of this Consent Decree.
68.

The United States reserves all legal and equitable remedies available

to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree, except as expressly stated in
Paragraph 67. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to limit the rights of
the United States to obtain penalties or injunctive relief under the Act or
implementing regulations, or under other federal laws, regulations, or permit
conditions, except as expressly specified in Paragraph 67. The United States
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further reserves all legal and equitable remedies to address any imminent and
substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment
arising at, or posed by, Defendant's Facility, whether related to the violations
addressed in this Consent Decree or otherwise.
69.

Defendant reserves all legal and equitable defenses to enforcement

under this Consent Decree, except as expressly stated herein. Defendant further
reserves the right to seek to modify its program for the design, planning,
construction, operation and maintenance of the Facility, subject to the terms of
this Consent Decree and applicable law. In any subsequent administrative or
judicial proceeding initiated by the United States for injunctive relief, civil
penalties, other appropriate relief relating to the Facility, Defendant shall not
assert, and may not maintain, any defense or claim based upon the principles of
waiver, res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, claimsplitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that the claims raised by the
United States in the subsequent proceeding were or should have been brought in
the instant case, except with respect to claims that have been specifically resolved
pursuant to Paragraph 67 of this Section.
70.

This Consent Decree is not a permit, or a modification of any permit,

under any federal, State, or local laws or regulations. Defendant is responsible for
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achieving and maintaining complete compliance with all applicable federal, State,
and local laws, regulations, and permits; and Defendant's compliance with this
Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action commenced pursuant to any
such laws, regulations, or permits, except as set forth herein. The United States
does not, by its consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any
manner that Defendant's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will
result in compliance with provisions of the Act, or with any other provisions of
federal, State, or local laws, regulations, or permits.
71.

This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Defendant

or of the United States against any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree,
nor does it limit the rights of third parties, not party to this Consent Decree,
against Defendant, except as otherwise provided by law.
72.

This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or

grant any cause of action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree.
XIV. COSTS
73.

The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including

attorneys' fees, except that the United States shall be entitled to collect the costs
(including attorneys' fees) incurred in any action necessary to collect any portion
of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Defendant.
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XV. NOTICES
74.

Unless otherwise specified herein, whenever notifications,

submissions, or communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall
be made in writing and addressed as follows:
To the United States:
Chief, Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
U.S. Department of Justice
Box 7611 Ben Franklin Station
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
Re: DOJ No. [xx-x-x-x-xxxx]
and
(EPA contact)
Brian P. Riedel
Assistant Regional Counsel (ORC-2)
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 9
75 Hawthorne Street
San Francisco, CA 94105
Phone: (415) 972-3924
Fax: (415) 947-3570
Email: riedel.brian@epa.gov
To the Hawaii Department of Health, Clean Air Branch:
Manager, Clean Air Branch
P.O. Box 3378
Honolulu, HI 96801-3378
Phone: (808) 586-4200
Fax: (808) 586-4359
Email: cab.doh@hawaii.gov
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To Defendant:
County of Maui
c/o Kyle Ginoza, Director
Department of Environmental Management
2200 Main Street, Suite 100
Wailuku, Hawaii 96793
75.

Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, change its

designated notice recipient or notice address provided above.
76.

Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted

upon mailing or emailing, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by
mutual agreement of the Parties in writing.
XVI. EFFECTIVE DATE
77.

The Effective Date of this Consent Decree shall be the date upon

which this Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the
Consent Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court's
docket.
XVII. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION
78.

The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of

this Consent Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this
Decree or entering orders modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections XI and
XVIII, or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree.
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XVIII. MODIFICATION
79.

The terms of this Consent Decree, including any attached appendices,

may be modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties.
Where the modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be
effective only upon approval by the Court.
80.

Any disputes concerning modification of this Decree shall be

resolved pursuant to Section XI of this Decree (Dispute Resolution), provided,
however, that, instead of the burden of proof provided by Paragraph 59, the Party
seeking the modification bears the burden of demonstrating that it is entitled to the
requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b).
XIX. TERMINATION
81.

After Defendant has maintained satisfactory compliance with Section

VI (Compliance Requirements) of this Consent Decree for a period of three years
from the Effective Date, and has paid the civil penalty and any accrued stipulated
penalties required by this Consent Decree, Defendant may notify the United States
that it has satisfactorily completed the requirements of this Consent Decree
referenced in this Paragraph, together with all necessary supporting
documentation. If the United States agrees that Defendant has completed the
requirements of this Consent Decree referenced in this Paragraph, the United
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States may submit a written statement to Defendant stating that Defendant's
obligations under the requirements of Section VI (Compliance Requirements) of
this Consent Decree referenced in this Paragraph have ceased.
82.

If Defendant has achieved SEP Completion, and otherwise completed

all other requirements under this Consent Decree, Defendant may serve upon the
United States a Request for Termination, stating that Defendant has satisfied those
requirements, together with all necessary supporting documentation. Following
receipt by the United States of Defendant's Request for Termination, the Parties
shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that the
Parties may have as to whether Defendant has satisfactorily complied with the
requirements for termination of this Consent Decree. If the United States agrees
that the Decree may be terminated, the Parties shall submit, for the Court's
approval, a joint stipulation terminating the Decree. Upon termination of the
Decree, all Interim Wellhead Temperature Limits established under the Decree
shall also terminate, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties.
83.

If the United States does not agree that the Decree may be

terminated, Defendant may invoke Dispute Resolution under Section XI of this
Decree. However, Defendant shall not seek Dispute Resolution of any dispute
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regarding termination, under Paragraph 55 of Section XI, until 180 Days after
service of its Request for Termination.
XX. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
84.

This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Court for a period of

not less than 30 Days for public notice and comment in accordance with 28 C.F.R.
§ 50.7. The United States reserves the right to withdraw or withhold its consent if
the comments regarding the Consent Decree disclose facts or considerations
indicating that the Consent Decree is inappropriate, improper, or inadequate.
Defendant consents to entry of this Consent Decree without further notice and
agrees not to withdraw from or oppose entry of this Consent Decree by the Court
or to challenge any provision of the Decree, unless the United States has notified
Defendant in writing that it no longer supports entry of the Decree.
XXI. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE
85.

Each undersigned representative of Defendant and the Assistant

Attorney General for the Environment and Natural Resources Division of the
Department of Justice certifies that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the
terms and conditions of this Consent Decree and to execute and legally bind the
Party he or she represents to this document.
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86.

This Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity

shall not be challenged on that basis. Each of the Parties agrees to accept service
of process by mail with respect to all matters arising under or relating to this
Consent Decree and to waive the formal service requirements set forth in Rules 4
and 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any applicable Local Rules of
this Court including, but not limited to, service of a summons.
XXII. INTEGRATION
87.

This Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive

agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement
embodied in the Decree and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether oral or written, concerning the settlement embodied herein. Other than
deliverables that are subsequently submitted and approved pursuant to this
Decree, no other document, nor any representation, inducement, agreement,
understanding, or promise, constitutes any part of this Decree or the settlement it
represents, nor shall it be used in construing the terms of this Decree.
XXIII. FINAL JUDGMENT
88.

Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this

Consent Decree shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United
States and Defendant. The Court finds that there is no just reason for delay and
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therefore enters this judgment as a final judgment under Fed. R. Civ. P. 54 and 58.
APPENDICES
89.

The following appendices are attached to and part of this Consent

Decree:
"Appendix A" is the list of Interim Wellhead Temperature Limits.
"Appendix B" is the List of Analytes Subject to VOC Analysis.
"Appendix C" is the Fire Response Procedures, Central Maui
Landfill, dated February 21, 2012.
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Appendix A: Interim Wellhead Temperature Limits
160° F Limit
EW-A-09
EW-A-12
EW-A-13
EW-A-15
EW-A-16
EW-A-22
150° F Limit
EW-A-03
EW-A-04
EW-A-05
EW-A-07
EW-A-08
EW-A-10
EW-A-11
EW-A-18
EW-A-19
EW-A-25
EW-A-31
EW-A-38
EW-A-42
140° F Limit
EW-A-01
EW-A-02
EW-A-06
EW-A-14
EW-A-21
EW-A-24
EW-A-26
EW-A-27
EW-A-28
EW-A-34
EW-A-37
EW-A-39
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Appendix B: List of Analytes Subject to VOC Analysis
Method : Modified TO-15
Compound and Reporting Limit (ppbv)
Freon 12 0.50
Freon 114 0.50
Chloromethane 2.0
Vinyl Chloride 0.50
1,3-Butadiene 0.50
Bromomethane 0.50
Chloroethane 0.50
Freon 11 0.50
Ethanol 2.0
Freon 113 0.50
1,1-Dichloroethene 0.50
Acetone 2.0
2-Propanol 2.0
Carbon Disulfide 0.50
3-Chloropropene 2.0
Methylene Chloride 0.50
Methyl tert-butyl ether 0.50
trans-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.50
Hexane 0.50
1,1-Dichloroethane 0.50
2-Butanone (Methyl Ethyl Ketone) 0.50
cis-1,2-Dichloroethene 0.50
Tetrahydrofuran 0.50
Chloroform 0.50
1,1,1-Trichloroethane 0.50
Cyclohexane 0.50
Carbon Tetrachloride 0.50
2,2,4-Trimethylpentane 0.50
Benzene 0.50
1,2-Dichloroethane 0.50
Heptane 0.50
Trichloroethene 0.50
1,2-Dichloropropane 0.50
1,4-Dioxane 2.0
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Bromodichloromethane 0.50
cis-1,3-Dichloropropene 0.50
4-Methyl-2-pentanone 0.50
Toluene 0.50
trans-1,3-Dichloropropene 0.50
1,1,2-Trichloroethane 0.50
Tetrachloroethene 0.50
2-Hexanone 2.0
Dibromochloromethane 0.50
1,2-Dibromoethane (EDB) 0.50
Chlorobenzene 0.50
Ethyl Benzene 0.50
m,p-Xylene 0.50
o-Xylene 0.50
Styrene 0.50
Bromoform 0.50
Cumene 0.50
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 0.50
Propylbenzene 0.50
4-Ethyltoluene 0.50
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene 0.50
1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene 0.50
1,3-Dichlorobenzene 0.50
1,4-Dichlorobenzene 0.50
alpha-Chlorotoluene 0.50
1,2-Dichlorobenzene 0.50
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene 2.0
Hexachlorobutadiene 2.0
Surrogate and Method Limits
Toluene-d8 70-130
1,2-Dichloroethane-d4 70-130
4-Bromofluorobenzene 70-130
Reporting Limits cited do not take into account sample dilution due to canister
pressurization.
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Appendix C: Fire Response Procedures, Central Maui Landfill
Date: February 21, 2012

13.5 Emergency Operating Procedures
13.5.1 General
Possible emergency conditions at the CML may require special response by the
operators to maintain facility operations and protect public health. This section
describes possible emergencies and response procedures for each. A thorough
review of emergency plans and procedures should be conducted on an annual
basis.
When either of the following conditions is observed, the operator will assume that
a fire has begun and shall implement the procedures below that are applicable to an
above-ground and/or subsurface fire:
• Actual observation of evidence of a fire (e.g., smoke, smoldering ash,
burning materials); or
• Carbon monoxide (CO) levels are detected at levels at or above 1,000 ppmv
in one or more gas wells.
In addition, if one of these conditions is triggered, the operator needs to notify
DOH-CAB and EPA-R9 within 24 hours.
When the operator is notified of an emergency situation, the response to the
situation should include the following steps:
• Make a preliminary assessment of the situation and its potential impact upon
human lives, public health, and facility operation.
• Respond to the emergency by providing first aid, clearing access to the site, and
securing the emergency site.
• Notify the appropriate emergency response organization, the facilities director,
and utility companies as soon as possible.
• Take corrective actions to restore facility safety and return to normal operation.
The following sections describe specific procedures to respond to specific
categories of emergency. Preventive measures are also described, where
applicable.
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Soil used for above-ground and subsurface fires as described below must be a
clean, low permeability soil (clay or silt, not gravel or sand) capable of obtaining a
permeability of 1x10 -5 cm/sec with a maximum particle size of three inches or less,
and be classified as SC, ML, CL, or CH according to the Unified Soil
Classification System.
13.5.2 Above Ground Fires
Primary fire control for the landfill facility will be provided by the landfill
personnel who will be trained for such events. County of Maui Fire Department
will provide secondary fire control. The emergency number for fire response is
911.
-

If a fire is discovered in the waste, the burning material should be pushed away
from the active area using the bulldozer and isolated on the soil-covered deck if
possible, and then extinguished using water or covering with soil. If it cannot be
immediately moved, the burning should be controlled by covering the fire with soil
and applying water using the site water truck. When the initial fire is controlled, all
smoldering material should be excavated to the deck, spread and fully extinguished
before replacing in the landfill.
Potential explosion sources are fuel tanks and landfill gas accumulations, both of
which will be monitored. Leaks and spillage from fuel tanks will be prevented at
all times. Fire protection for landfill equipment will be provided by frequent
removal of debris from undercarriages and engine compartments, by repairing oil
and fuel leaks, and by providing a portable fire extinguisher in the cab of each
vehicle. The office and equipment/maintenance building are also equipped with
fire extinguishers. Fires that occur on the landfill will be extinguished promptly by
landfill personnel using stockpiled soil cover to smother the fire and, when
necessary, by excavating the refuse, spreading the waste, and covering with soil.
Any incoming load that is burning, as evidenced by smoke or flames, will be
unloaded away from the active working face and extinguished. If the hot load is
inadvertently unloaded at the working face, the hot materials will be excavated,
removed from the active fill area, and extinguished.
Open burning of waste materials is strictly prohibited throughout the facility.
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All personnel working on site are to be aware that the first step after a fire or
explosion is to call the fire district. An initial report should provide information on
injury, and the probable nature, extent, and potential for control of fire by on-site
personnel. An initial call must be made as soon as fire or explosion is detected,
even if no other information is available.
On-site personnel should take the following steps:
• Administer any first aid required and notify emergency response team.
• Pick up the burning material with the dozer or compactor, and spread to nonflammable areas.
• Cover the material with soil.
• Do not add water to a fire that appears to be of a chemical origin.
• Avoid inhaling fumes, smoke, or vapors even if no hazardous material appears to
be involved. Do not assume that gases or vapors are harmless because they lack
odor.
• Provide directions to outside support organizations upon arrival.
• Keep all personnel up-wind and clear of the incident.
All efforts are to be focused on controlling the fire to prevent spreading. Fire near
the liner will require exposure of the liner to determine the extent of damage, if
any, after the fire has been extinguished.
13.5.3 Subsurface Fires
Subsurface landfill fires may be caused by several mechanisms in municipal solid
waste landfills, including:
• By outside air intruding into the base of landfill slopes from convection currents
or wind.
• By "hot" loads being disposed in the landfill.
• By an active landfill gas system drawing air into the landfill by overdrawing on a
well.
A buildup of heat, the presence of oxygen, and a fuel source cause subsurface fires.
To prevent a fire at least one of these elements must be eliminated. As fuel cannot
be removed from a landfill, then oxygen must be prevented from infiltrating into
the landfill and any source of heat removed.
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To prevent air intrusion, a soil barrier layer cover is placed over the landfill. The
soil is compacted to a minimum of 89 percent of the maximum dry density as
determined by ASTM D-1557, and is to extend a minimum of ten feet beyond the
impacted area if feasible. A clay cover is to be a minimum of 18 inches, and each
lift of clay should not exceed 9 inches before compaction. A non-clay barrier layer
is to be 24 inches and placed over a graded foundation layer.
On areas that are not to receive waste for six months or more, the County will
place a minimum of one foot of soil over the waste. No refuse is to show through
the one-foot soil layer.
"Hot" loads of ash or other materials could create a subsurface fire. To identify hot
loads, spread each layer of refuse one to two feet thick. The operator and spotter
will routinely look for evidence of hot loads. Any hot loads identified will be
removed. By spreading the refuse in thin lifts, the County will then compact the
refuse, grinding up the particles and crushing any small hot embers, like charcoal
briquettes, and mixing them into the waste mass.
If a subsurface fire does occur, there are several options the County will need to
consider for implementation. These options include the following:
• Excavation
• Smothering
• Injection
Excavation would require digging out the area that is on fire. Care will be required
to ensure no flare-ups occur. Spraying the refuse with water and fire foam as
excavated is recommended. Spread the refuse excavated in one- or two-foot lifts
and thoroughly wet and compact. Excavation is recommended for shallow
underground fires less than 10 feet, or if it is suspected that the bottom liner has
been impacted. Contractors can be hired with successful experience in
excavation of burning refuse if the project is outside the abilities of the County.
Smothering is spreading soil over the underground fire area and keeping the area
wet. The smothering technique is used to prevent oxygen from infiltrating into the
underground fire area. This technique would be suitable for a closed portion of the
landfill or if there is no chance the underground fire could reach the bottom liner
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system. The smothering technique is of limited use at CML.
Injection of water, foam, or gases (typically, carbon dioxide) is a suitable technique
to extinguish a limited underground fire. Injection consists of drilling and installing
perforated steel pipe. The perforated piping is then connected to the reservoir of
foam, water, or gas selected to extinguish the underground fire. The injection
technique is recommended if the underground fire appears too hot for excavation,
or is above the liner system and is too deep for inexpensive excavation. If it is
suspected that the bottom liner has been impacted, then excavation to uncover the
liner system is required.

